Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-20-2017

Lincoln Land Co., LLC v. LP Broadband, Inc. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44612

I.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
II.	ISSUES ON APPEAL7	
III.	ARGUMENT8	
	A.	The District Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment to LP Broadband by Determining that No Benefit was Conferred to LP Broadband by Lincoln Land Company
	B.	The District Court Erred in Determining that the Standard to Establish a Claim for Unjust Enrichment Requires that the Benefit Conferred upon the Party Unjustly Enriched must be Provided Directly by the Party Seeking to Recover
IV.	CONCLUSION25	
V.	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	

TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

<u>PAGE</u>			
Beco Constr. Co. v. Bannock Paving Co., 118 Idaho 463, 466, 797 P.2d 863, 866 (1990)20			
Brewer v. Washington RSA No. 8 Ltd. Partnership, 145 Idaho 735, 184 P.3d 860 (2008)10, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20			
Christian v. Atl. Richfield Co., 380 Mont. 495, 358 P.3d 131, 150 (Mont., 2015)23, 24			
Idaho Lumber, Inc. v. Buck, 109 Idaho 737, 710 P.2d 647 (Ct.App. 1985)			
Med. Recovery Servs., LLC v. Bonneville Billing & Collections, Inc., 157 Idaho 395, 336 P.3d 802 (2014), reh'g denied (Sept. 15, 2014)			
Stevensen v. Windermere Real Estate/Capital Grp., Inc., 152 Idaho 824, 827, 275 p.3d 839, 842 (2012)11, 21			
Vanderford Co. v. Knudson, 144 Idaho 547, 557, 165 P.3d 261, 271 (2007)20, 21, 24, 25			
<u>STATUTES</u>			
Idaho Code Section 55-6078-9, 10			
SOURCES			
42 C.J.S. Implied Contracts § 9 (2013)11, 12, 21			
Black's Law Dictionary, 6th Ed., 199022			
Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment, § 4023, 26			

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal involves the unauthorized use of grain silo rooftop space by LP Broadband, Inc. (hereafter "LP Broadband"), for the purpose of installation and operation of internet antennae and related equipment. The rooftop space is now owned by Lincoln Land Company, LLC (hereafter "Lincoln Land) and was leased by Lincoln Land to General Mills Operations, Inc. (hereafter "General Mills"), beginning June, 2010. See Lease, R. p. 281-88.

Prior to Lincoln Land's purchase of the grain silos in 2010, General Mills leased the grain silos from Evan's Grain and Elevator Company, the prior owner of the grain silos.

On March 20, 2000, General Mills signed a "Roof-top Rental Agreement", renting rooftop space on the grain silos to MicroServ (LP Broadband's predecessor in interest), with rent in the amount of \$50.00 per month. See Roof-top Rental (hereafter "the 27 Agreement, R. p. 2000 Sublease Agreement"). Pursuant to the 2000 Sublease Agreement, General Mills allowed LP Broadband to utilize the Rooftops as a location for placement of internet antennae for a period "of no less than 3 years, and up to 5 years with annual renewals after the first 3 years." See 2000 Sublease Agreement. R. p. 27.

For purposes of this appeal, and giving the greatest possible benefit of interpretation to LP Broadband, this Court should assume that the "up to 5 years with annual renewals" is in addition to the initial 3 years of guaranteed utilization. Using the interpretation most favorable to LP Broadband, the 2000 Sublease Agreement could extend at most for 8 years, or until March 20, 2008. Lincoln Land's Complaint seeks the disgorgement by LP Broadband of unjust enrichment benefits received after July, 2010 (See Complaint, para. 7, R. p. 17), more than two years after the last possible expiration date of the 2000 Sublease Agreement. Other than the 2000 Sublease Agreement, no valid, executed sublease agreement has been provided by LP Broadband.

During June, 2010, Lincoln Land, as the new owner of the grain silos, leased the silos to General Mills. See Affidavit of Doyle H. Beck, dated November 10, 2015, Para. 3, R. p. 44. Such lease agreement specifically prohibited General Mills from subletting the property or any part thereof without the prior written consent of Lincoln Land. Id., Para. 4, R. p. 45. In June, 2010, Lincoln Land was not aware of LP Broadband's continuing unauthorized occupancy of the Rooftops. Id., Para 5, R. p. 45.

Between July, 2010 and April 22, 2014, LP Broadband utilized internet antennae equipment on the Rooftops without

any authorization from Lincoln Land and without any payment to Lincoln Land for such use. See Responses to Requests for Admission 1-5 attached to the Affidavit of Mark R. Fuller, dated November 10, 2015, as Exhibit 'A', R. p. 36-38.

During litigation, LP Broadband disclosed to Lincoln Land two unsigned documents, one entitled "Antenna Space Lease Agreement" and the other entitled "Tower Agreement". R. p. 42-43. The Antenna Space Lease Agreement purports to authorize the utilization of the Rooftops from June 1, 2004 through June 1, 2009, with automatic annual renewals (hereinafter referred to as "the 2004 Sublease Agreement"). Id. The Tower Agreement purports to authorize the utilization of the Rooftops from April 20, 2013 through March 31, 2018 (hereinafter referred to as "the 2013 Sublease Agreement"). Id. These 2004 and 2013 sublease agreements were never signed by LP Broadband, MicroServ, General Mills, Inc., General Mills Operations, LLC, Evans Grain & Elevator Co., or Lincoln Land. Id.

Lincoln Land filed a Complaint on July 20, 2015, seeking an order requiring LP Broadband (successor by merger to MicroServ) to disgorge the unjust profits realized by the unauthorized use of Lincoln Land's real property. See Complaint, R. p. 15-27. LP Broadband was unjustly enriched by its unauthorized use of Lincoln Land's property to locate

internet antennae equipment and by selling internet access to its customers. Id.

On March 4, 2016, Lincoln Land filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment RE: Unjust Enrichment Claim, seeking among other things, a determination that LP Broadband was unjustly enriched, but leaving the amount of such unjust enrichment for determination at a later date. R. p. 209-11. On March 16, 2016, LP Broadband filed its own Motion for Summary Judgment, seeking a determination that no benefit was conferred by Lincoln Land to LP Broadband. R. p. 239-40. Each party thereafter filed opposing and supporting briefing as permitted by Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure.

A joint hearing on these Motions was held on April 13, 2016. On May 18, 2016, the District Court entered its Memorandum Decision and Order denying Lincoln Land's Motion and granting LP Broadband's Motion. R. p. 493-504. Judgment was entered August 19, 2016. R. p. 512-14.

On September 28, 2016, Lincoln Land appealed the District Court's Judgment and Memorandum Decision and Order.

R. p. 575-79. The District Court subsequently denied LP Broadband's request for attorney fees. R. p. 560-71. On November 15, 2016, LP Broadband filed a cross appeal from the District Court's denial of attorney fees. R. p. 584-87.

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- a. The District Court erred in granting Summary

 Judgment to LP Broadband by determining that no

 benefit was conferred to LP Broadband by Lincoln

 Land Company.
- b. The District Court erred in determining that the standard to establish a claim for unjust enrichment requires that the benefit conferred upon the party unjustly enriched must be provided directly by the party seeking to recover.

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO LP BROADBAND BY DETERMINING THAT NO BENEFIT WAS CONFERRED TO LP BROADBAND BY LINCOLN LAND COMPANY.

first issue on appeal addresses the District Court's determination that Lincoln Land did not confer a benefit when LP Broadband used the Rooftop Space without authorization from Lincoln Land. In its Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Motion for Summary Judgment, the District Court made the legal determination that "General Mills, not Lincoln Land, conferred the benefit by granting LP Broadband permission to use the property's rooftop area." R. p. 500. As a matter of law, General Mills had no legal or contractual authority to confer access to the Rooftops to LP Broadband. The Lease between Lincoln Land and General Mills specifically stated that "Tenant will not sublet the Property, or any part thereof, and will not assign this Lease or any interest therein, nor permit this Lease to be transferred in any manner without the prior written consent of Landlord in each and every case of underletting or assignment..." R. p. 282. Without Lincoln Land's written approval, General Mills had no legal authority to confer any interest in the rooftops to LP Broadband.

Idaho Code Section 55-607 states that "A grant made by the owner of an estate for life or years, purporting to

transfer a greater estate than he could lawfully transfer...passes to the grantee all the estate which the grantor could lawfully transfer." Any attempt by General Mills (as owner of an estate for years) to confer the benefit of occupancy of the rooftop space without Lincoln Land's approval was in violation of Idaho Code Section 55-607 and was an illegal attempt to transfer a greater estate than General Mills could lawfully transfer. Because General Mills had no legal capacity to confer rooftop occupancy to LP Broadband, no estate could be transferred by General Mills to LP Broadband. Any claim that General Mills conferred such a benefit should have been rejected by the District Court. LΡ Broadband's use of Lincoln Land's property must necessarily constitute an appropriation from Lincoln Land, because only Lincoln Land had the legal and contractual authority to confer the use of Lincoln Land's property to LP Broadband.

The District Court relied heavily upon Med. Recovery Servs., LLC v. Bonneville Billing & Collections, Inc., 157 Idaho 395, 336 P.3d 802 (2014), reh'g denied (Sept. 15, 2014). The District Court stated:

[I]t was not [Lincoln Land's] **conduct** that conferred a benefit on [LP Broadband]. General Mills, not Lincoln Land, conferred the benefit by granting LP Broadband permission to use the property's rooftop area. If...General Mill's decision to permit LP Broadband to use the

rooftop was in violation of the Lease Agreement, that decision is analogous to WSEC's mistake in MRS. Such a mistake or alleged breach of contract does not alter the fact that it was General Mills, not Lincoln Land, which conferred the benefit.

See Memorandum Decision and Order RE: Motions for Summary Judgment, p. 8 (emphasis added), R. p. 500. The District Court failed to recognize that the mistake in MRS related to personal property (money), not an interest in real property. Under Idaho Code 55-607, a tenant cannot "mistakenly" transfer a greater estate in real property than the tenant possesses and the holding in MRS is easily distinguished under applicable law.

The District Court also relied upon Brewer Washington RSA No. 8 Ltd. Partnership, 145 Idaho 735, 184 P.3d 860 (2008). The District Court interpreted the Brewer decision to mean that the "Idaho Supreme Court did not consider [the Defendant's] use of the property without the [Plaintiff's] authorization to be sufficient, by itself, to establish that the [Plaintiff] conferred a benefit on [the Defendant]." See Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Motions for Summary Judgment, p. 10, R. p. 502. The District Court here acknowledged "that, unlike the plaintiff in Brewer, Lincoln Land has clearly supported its allegation of a below-market value lease, sufficient to create a question of fact on that issue. The value of the lease, however,

relates more directly to the third element in a cause of action for unjust enrichment." Id. The District Court, relying upon Brewer, held that any unauthorized use of real property (trespass) will only give rise to a claim for unjust enrichment where the unauthorized use was conferred upon the trespasser by the lawful owner (which would of necessity mean the use is no longer unauthorized). Under the District Court's holding, if the trespasser received "permission" from a third-party intermeddler who lacks legal authority to grant such permission, no cause of action by the owner for unjust enrichment arises. would create a loophole whereby any unjust enrichment claim could be thwarted simply by claiming a third-party interloper authorized the use of the owner's property.

The first element of a prima facie case for unjust enrichment requires that "there was a benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff". Stevensen v. Windermere Real Estate/Capital Grp., Inc., 152 Idaho 824, 827, 275 p.3d 839, 842 (2012). As specifically noted by LP Broadband, "'A person confers a benefit upon another if he or she gives the other some interest in money, land, or possessions, performs services beneficial to or at the request of the other, satisfies the debt of the other, or in any other way adds to the other's advantage.' 42 C.J.S.

Implied Contracts § 9 (2013)." See Defendant's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 6 (emphasis added), R. p. 246. As noted in Idaho Lumber, Inc. v. Buck, 109 Idaho 737, 710 P.2d 647 (Ct.App. 1985), a defendant "should be required to make restitution of or for property or benefits received, retained, or appropriated...." Idaho Lumber, Inc., 109 Idaho at 746 (emphasis added). It undisputed that LP Broadband received, retained appropriated Lincoln Land's real property interest when after June, 2010 it installed and utilized antennae equipment on the rooftop space of Lincoln Land's grain silos without Lincoln Land's authorization. Providing that unjust enrichment may result from appropriation of property or benefits necessarily negates any requirement that the benefit must be authorized by the owner through conferral.

LP Broadband was conferred a property use benefit and was advantaged at the expense of Lincoln Land when LP Broadband received, retained, appropriated, occupied and utilized Lincoln Land's property without authorization or permission from Lincoln Land. The two cases relied upon by the District Court should be distinguished from the present action for the following reasons:

a. Medical Recovery Services, LLC v. Bonneville Billing and Collections, Inc., 157 Idaho 395, 336 P.3d 802 (2014).

The facts in Medical Recovery Services, LLC v. Bonneville Billing and Collections, Inc., are distinguished from Lincoln Land's unjust enrichment claim. In Medical Recovery Services, LLC, wages garnished from a debtor's employer by Medical Recovery Services, LLC, were mistakenly sent by the employer to Bonneville Billing and Collections, Inc., who also was owed money by the debtor. Medical Recovery Services then filed an unjust enrichment claim against Bonneville Billing. The Idaho Supreme Court determined "that Medical Recovery Services did not confer any direct benefit on Bonneville Billings and Collections." See Medical Recovery Services, Inc., 157 Idaho at 399. This was technically true because the Court found that the benefit was conferred by the employer who sent the money directly to Bonneville Billings, and no benefit conferred by Medical Recovery Services. Id. The 'benefit conferred' was personal property (money) which the employer mistakenly sent to the wrong collection agency. The basis of the holding was that at the time of the employer's mistake, Medical Recovery Services had no ownership interest in the personal property (money).

The District Court in the present action erred when it focused on the **conduct** of the parties ("...it was the plaintiff's **conduct** that conferred the benefit on the

defendant." See Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Motions for Summary Judgment, p. 8 (emphasis added), R. p. 500), rather than who actually owned the benefit (money) at the time it was conferred. Rather than focusing on the conduct of the parties, the correct analysis must focus on who had legal rights to the benefit being conferred. In Medical Recovery Services, at the time of conferral the benefit (money) belonged to the employer/employee and was never in the possession or ownership of Medical Recovery Services. Until the employer made payment, the funds belonged to the employer and Medical Recovery Services had no ownership interest in the funds which Medical Recovery Services could confer. Medical Recovery Services had no right to demand possession of the specific money conferred by the employer.

In the present action, the 'benefit conferred' was the right to occupy and utilize Lincoln Land's real property interest in the silo rooftops. General Mills had a lease with Lincoln Land to occupy and utilize the property, but Lincoln Land retained the right of subletting to all others, "...in any manner...in each and every case...." See Affidavit of Doyle Beck, Exhibit 'A', para. 11, R. p. 383. General Mills did not have the legal right to confer the benefit of rooftop occupancy upon LP Broadband because General Mills did not possess the right to transfer the

Rooftops under General Mills' lease agreement with Lincoln Land. See Affidavit of Jim Rooney, para. 6 and 8, R. p. 425. When LP Broadband received, retained and thereby appropriated Lincoln Land's real property occupancy right, a benefit was conferred upon LP Broadband which actually belonged to Lincoln Land. General Mills could not confer a right which General Mills did not legally possess and General Mills expressly informed LP Broadband that any rooftop lease required approval of the owner of the property. Id.

In Medical Recovery Services, Inc., the Supreme Court noted that a mistake on the part of the employer was the source of the personal property benefit (money) which was conferred. 157 Idaho at 399. Contrary to the findings of the District Court here, the mistake in Medical Recovery Services is not analogous to the present facts. In Medical Recovery Services, the personal property (money) flowed directly from the employer to Bonneville Billing Collections. There was no contract or protected interest in the personal property which prevented the employer from making that "conferral by mistake". In the present action, General Mills did not possess the contractual right to sublease the rooftops and Idaho Code Section specifically prevents "mistaken" transfers of real property interests by tenants. General Mills could not mistakenly or intentionally confer any real property benefit upon LP Broadband. See Para. 11 of Lease, attached as Exhibit 'A' to the Affidavit of Doyle Beck, R. p. 383. In addition, the 2000 sublease upon which LP Broadband relies had expired years before the subject time period. See Exhibit 'C' to the Complaint, R. p. 27; see also Affidavit of Jim Rooney, para. 4, R. p. 424. This Court should not sanction the appropriation of real property rights by trespass and the resulting unjustified enrichment, simply because an unauthorized third party was involved.

b. Brewer v. Washington RSA No. 8 Ltd. Partnership, 145 Idaho 735, 184 P.3d 860 (2008).

The facts in Brewer are also distinguishable from the facts in this action. In Brewer, a co-tenant acting as manager of real property, leased property to the Defendant. Another co-tenant brought an action for unjust enrichment based upon the Defendant's use of the property at a below market lease rate. "[The District Court] noted that there were no facts in the record suggesting [the Defendant] had received a below-market lease or that it had received a benefit that would be inequitable for it to retain."

Brewer, 145 Idaho at 739 (emphasis added). In response to the Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Trial Court held that Brewer "failed to point to a single fact in

the record...that creates a genuine issue of material fact" and "merely made unsubstantiated allegations relating to the lease." Brewer, 145 Idaho at 740 (emphasis added).

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