### Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-24-2017

# Lincoln Land Co., LLC v. LP Broadband, Inc. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44612

I.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE					
	A.	NATURE OF THE CASE				
	B.	STATEMENT OF FACTS				
		1.	GENERAL MILLS AND LP BROADBAND ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT IN 2000 FOR USE OF THE ROOFTOPS AND LP BROADBAND CONTINUED SUCH USE FOR THE NEXT FOURTEEN (14) YEARS	2		
		2.	LINCOLN LAND PURCHASES THE ELEVATOR AND ROOFTOPS IN 2006 AND LEASES THE SAME TO GENERAL MILLS IN 2010	3		
		3.	GENERAL MILLS PAYS LINCOLN LAND IN FULL FOR USE OF THE ELEVATORS AND ROOFTOPS AND LP BROADBAND CONTINUES TO USE THE ROOFTOPS.	3		
		4.	FACTS AND ALLEGATIONS LINCOLN LAND NEVER MADE CONCERNING LP BROADBAND'S USE OF THE ROOFTOPS	4		
	C.	Course of Proceedings.		4		
II.	STAN	NDARD OF REVIEW6				
III.	SUMN	MARY OF ARGUMENT				
IV.	Argument					
	A.	JUDGE WATKINS CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT THAT LINCOLN LAND DID NOT CONFER THE BENEFIT IN QUESTION TO LP BROADBAND AND THAT LP BROADBAND WAS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW				
	В.	THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS IN LINE WITH MRS v. Bonneville BILLING, 157 IDAHO 395, 336 P.3D 802 (2014) AND BREWER v. WASHINGTON, 145 IDAHO 735, 184 P.3D 860 (2008)				
	C.					
		1.	Any Minor Differences Between the Facts at Bar and Those in <i>Stevenson, MRS</i> , and <i>Brewer</i> are Far Outweighed by Their Overwhelming Similarities.			
		2.	LINCOLN LAND'S RELIANCE ON <i>IDAHO LUMBER, INC. V. BUCK</i> , 109 IDAHO 737, 710 P.2D 647 (CT.APP.1985) IS UNAVAILING	15		
		3.	LINCOLN LAND'S RELIANCE ON IDAHO CODE § 55-607 IS MISPLACED	16		

	4.	LINCOLN LAND'S BRIEF CONTAINS SEVERAL STATEMENTS OF LAW		
		THAT ARE INCORRECT.	17	
V.	Conclusion		19	

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### Cases Beco Constr. Co. v. Bannock Paving Co., Brewer v. Wash. RSA No. 8 Ltd. P'ship, Idaho Lumber, Inc. v. Buck, Loomis v. City of Hailey, McColm v. Baker, Med. Recovery Servs., LLC v. Bonneville Billing, MRS v. Bonneville Billing, Ouemada v. Arizmendez. Stevenson v. Windermere Real Estate/Capital Grp., Inc., Vreeken v. Lockwood Eng'g, B.V., **Statutes** Other Authorities

### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is Third-Party Defendants-Respondents General Mills, Inc.'s and General Mills Operations, LLC's (collectively "General Mills") Response Brief responding to the Appellant's Brief filed by Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross Respondent Lincoln Land Company, LLC ("Lincoln Land") on April 20, 2017.

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a Judgment entered by the Honorable Dane H. Watkins dismissing Lincoln Land's unjust enrichment count with prejudice. To recover for unjust enrichment, a litigant must prove three (3) elements: "(1) there was a benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff; (2) appreciation by the defendant of such benefit; and (3) acceptance of the benefit under circumstances that would be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without payment to the plaintiff for the value thereof." Stevenson v. Windermere Real Estate/Capital Grp., Inc., 152 Idaho 824, 827, 275 P.3d 839, 842 (2012). This appeal focuses on the first of the foregoing elements.

Judge Watkins dismissed Lincoln Land's unjust enrichment count because Lincoln Land failed to set forth a genuine issue of material fact that Lincoln Land actually conferred the benefit in question to Defendant LP Broadband, Inc. ("<u>LP Broadband</u>"). The alleged benefit at issue is LP Broadband's use, permitted by General Mills, of the rooftops ("<u>Rooftops</u>") located on certain grain elevators that Lincoln Land leased to General Mills.

The disposition of Lincoln Land's appeal focuses on a narrow question of law regarding the "conferral" element of unjust enrichment: can a plaintiff cut out the middleman and recover for unjust enrichment against a defendant if the benefit conferred upon the defendant was conferred by a third-party and, in any event, not the plaintiff seeking recovery?

This issue has been decided by this Court. The answer is no, a plaintiff cannot recover in such circumstances. See Stevenson v. Windermere Real Estate/Capital Grp., Inc., 152 Idaho 824, 275 P.3d 839 (2012) (affirming decision to dismiss unjust enrichment count on the grounds that the benefit obtained by the defendant was conferred by a third-party—not the plaintiff—and by suing defendant, plaintiff sought to "cut out the middleman"), Med. Recovery Servs., LLC v. Bonneville Billing, 157 Idaho 395, 336 P.3d 802 (2014) (stating that recovery for unjust enrichment was improper because plaintiff did not confer a direct benefit to defendant), and Brewer v. Wash. RSA No. 8 Ltd. P'ship, 145 Idaho 735, 184 P.3d 860 (2008) (affirming dismissal of unjust enrichment by the district court that rejected contention that mere unauthorized use of land constituted conferral of a benefit by plaintiff). By dismissing Lincoln Land's unjust enrichment count on the grounds that Lincoln Land failed to prove and/or demonstrate an issue of fact that Lincoln Land conferred a benefit upon LP Broadband, Judge Watkins made the right call, consistent with established Idaho case law. Judge Watkins' decision and judgment should be AFFIRMED.

#### B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. GENERAL MILLS AND LP BROADBAND ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT IN 2000 FOR USE OF THE ROOFTOPS AND LP BROADBAND CONTINUED SUCH USE FOR THE NEXT FOURTEEN (14) YEARS.

In March of 2000, General Mills entered into a Roof-top Rental Agreement ("Roof Top Agreement") with LP Broadband's predecessor, Microserv, for the use of "roof-top space on the

Evans Grainery." R. p. 27 (Complaint, Ex. C); see also R. p. 72 (Affidavit of Adam Gillings in Support of Objection to Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Gillings Affidavit I") at ¶ 7-8). Under the Roof Top Agreement, LP Broadband agreed to pay \$50.00 per month to General Mills for LP Broadband to locate its antennae equipment on the grain elevator roof-tops. *Id.* LP Broadband paid its monthly use fees to General Mills through April of 2014. R. p. 72 (Gillings Affidavit I at ¶ 10–12).

### 2. LINCOLN LAND PURCHASES THE ELEVATOR AND ROOFTOPS IN 2006 AND LEASES THE SAME TO GENERAL MILLS IN 2010.

On or about March 15, 2006, Lincoln Land purchased the Evans Grainery from then seller, Evans Grain Elevator. R. p. 268 (Affidavit of Counsel [Larren K. Covert] in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, ¶ 3, Ex. A, at 9). In June of 2010, Lincoln Land leased the Evans Grainery to General Mills ("Lease"). R. p. 44 (Affidavit of Doyle H. Beck ("Beck Affidavit"), ¶ 3); see also R. pp. 370-377 (Declaration of Alexander P. McLaughlin in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("McLaughlin Declaration"), Ex. B (attaching the Lease disclosed by Lincoln Land in discovery)).

The Lease, among other things, allows General Mills to use the Evans Grainery "without restriction" for the duration of the Lease. R. p. 370 (McLaughlin Declaration, Ex. B at ¶ 4). The rental amount under the Lease for the Evans Grainery was \$120,000.00 per year for the five (5) year term of the Lease. R. p. 370 (McLaughlin Declaration, Ex. B at ¶ 3).

## 3. GENERAL MILLS PAYS LINCOLN LAND IN FULL FOR USE OF THE ELEVATORS AND ROOFTOPS AND LP BROADBAND CONTINUES TO USE THE ROOFTOPS.

General Mills has paid Lincoln Land roughly \$500,000.00 in payments under the Lease.

R. p. 394 (Declaration of Colleen Benson at 2). The Lease restricted subleasing, stating: "Tenant will not sublet the Property, or any part thereof, and will not assign this lease or any interest therein...." R. p. 371 (McLaughlin Declaration, Ex. B at ¶ 11). Notwithstanding the Lease's restrictions on subleasing, Microserv and/or LP Broadband continued to pay General Mills to use the Rooftops for LP Broadband's antennae equipment, as they had done so since 2000. R. p. 72 (Gillings Affidavit I at ¶ 10). Accordingly, there is no issue of fact that General Mills permitted LP Broadband use of the Rooftops and LP Broadband paid General Mills for such use, which occurred both prior to and after execution of the Lease.

### 4. FACTS AND ALLEGATIONS LINCOLN LAND NEVER MADE CONCERNING LP BROADBAND'S USE OF THE ROOFTOPS.

There is no evidence in the record that LP Broadband caused damage to the Rooftops. There is no evidence in the record that Lincoln Land planned to use the Rooftops for some purpose, but was prevented from doing so by General Mills or LP Broadband. There is no record that Lincoln Land wanted to lease the space out to a third-party. General Mills could have used the Rooftops in the exact same manner as LP Broadband and General Mills would not have had to pay Lincoln Land anything extra.

#### C. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

Lincoln Land alleges that LP Broadband was unjustly enriched because LP Broadband used the Rooftops owned by Lincoln Land and previously leased to General Mills, without Lincoln Land's permission.

Lincoln Land does not dispute that it received rental payments from General Mills pursuant to the Lease for the entirety of the property, including the Rooftops. Lincoln Land also

does not dispute that LP Broadband paid General Mills for its use of the Rooftops. Rather, Lincoln Land's unjust enrichment claim is based on the allegation that "LP has not paid any amount to Lincoln Land for the use of Lincoln Land's property." R. pp. 17-18 (Complaint at ¶8).

On or about December 16, 2015, LP Broadband brought its third-party complaint against General Mills, seeking implied indemnity. Lincoln Land and LP Broadband both moved for summary judgment soon after. General Mills opposed both motions and asked that the trial court dismiss both Lincoln Land's unjust enrichment count and LP Broadband's indemnity suit.

The trial court entered its Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Motions for Summary Judgment ("Memorandum Decision") on or about May 18, 2016. The Memorandum Decision is thoughtful and well-reasoned. In its decision, the Court granted LP Broadband's summary judgment motion and dismissed Lincoln Land's suit on the grounds that it was undisputed that Lincoln Land did not confer the benefit in question to LP Broadband. In reaching that conclusion, the Court properly found that the facts at bar are similar to those in *Med. Recovery Servs., LLC v. Bonneville Billing*, 157 Idaho 395, 336 P.3d 802 (2014), stating:

In this case, just as in MRS, it was not the plaintiff's conduct that conferred a benefit on the defendant. General Mills, not Lincoln Land, conferred the benefit by granting LP Broadband permission to use the property's rooftop area.

R. p. 500 (Memorandum Decision at 8). The Court also relied on *Brewer v. Wash. RSA No. 8* Ltd. P'ship, 145 Idaho 735, 184 P.3d 860 (2008), noting that:

The Supreme Court's statement that the Brewers "merely asserted that Inland Cellular's use of the land was a benefit" appears to

indicate that the Idaho Supreme Court did not consider Inland Cellular's use of the property without the Brewers' authorization to be sufficient, by itself, to establish that the Brewers conferred a benefit on Inland Cellular.

R. p. 502 (Memorandum Decision at 10 (emphasis added)).

Judge Watkins entered a judgment ("<u>Judgment</u>") consistent with its Memorandum Decision in August 2016.<sup>1</sup> Lincoln Land appealed from the Judgment and submitted its opening brief. General Mills now submits its response.

#### II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing an order for summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard of review that was used by the trial court in ruling on the motion for summary judgment." *Quemada v. Arizmendez*, 153 Idaho 609, 612, 288 P.3d 826, 829 (2012) (quoting *Vreeken v. Lockwood Eng'g, B.V.*, 148 Idaho 89, 101, 218 P.3d 1150, 1162 (2009)). "The court must grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." I.R.C.P. 56(a). "When an action will be tried before the court without a jury, the judge is not constrained to draw inferences in favor of the party opposing a motion for summary judgment but rather the trial judge is free to arrive at the most probable inferences to be drawn from uncontroverted evidentiary facts." *Loomis v. City of Hailey*, 119 Idaho 434, 437, 807 P.2d 1272, 1275 (1991).

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The argument section of this brief is divided into three (3) sections. Section A discusses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Judgment is dated July 17, 2016. However, the Judgment was actually signed by the Court in August.

the point that Judge Watkins properly determined that Lincoln Land failed to set forth evidence that it conferred a benefit, under Idaho law, to LP Broadband. Section B addresses how Judge Watkins' ruling is bolstered by several controlling Idaho cases. Section C refutes the primary arguments Lincoln Land raises in its opening brief.

#### IV. ARGUMENT

The law regarding unjust enrichment is straightforward. A prima facie case for unjust enrichment exists where: "(1) there was a benefit conferred upon the defendant by the plaintiff; (2) appreciation by the defendant of such benefit; and (3) acceptance of the benefit under circumstances that would be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without payment to the plaintiff for the value thereof." *Stevenson*, 152 Idaho at 827, 275 P.3d 839 at 842. Judge Watkins correctly dismissed Lincoln Land's unjust enrichment count because it is undisputed that Lincoln Land did not confer a benefit to LP Broadband under Idaho case authority.

A. JUDGE WATKINS CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THERE WAS NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT THAT LINCOLN LAND DID NOT CONFER THE BENEFIT IN QUESTION TO LP BROADBAND AND THAT LP BROADBAND WAS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

"To confer a benefit in the context of unjust enrichment, the plaintiff must give the defendant an interest in money, land, or possessions, or perform services beneficial to, or at the request of, the other." MRS v. Bonneville Billing, 157 Idaho 395, 399, 336 P.3d 802, 806 (2008) (citing 42 C.J.S. IMPLIED CONTRACTS § 9 (2013)). Thus, it is essential that the plaintiff be the one conferring the benefit in question. Id. ("Here, like the plaintiffs in both Stevenson and Beco Constr. Co. v. Bannock Paving Co., 118 Idaho 463, 797 P.2d 863 (1990), MRS has not conferred any direct benefit on BBC") (emphasis added). Use and/or mere receipt of a benefit is not

sufficient to establish the first element of unjust enrichment. *Compare* Appellant's Brief at 25 ("The central issue is **receipt of** a benefit by defendant, not intentional conferral by the plaintiff") (emphasis in original); *with MRS*, 157 Idaho at 399, 336 P.3d at 806 ("The *Beco* Court noted that recovery under an unjust enrichment theory requires one party, the plaintiff, to give some benefit to the other party, the defendant").

Stevenson illustrates the foregoing points in factually similar circumstances. In Stevenson, the Stevensons sought to purchase a condominium from seller, Jefferson. 152 Idaho at 825, 275 P.3d at 840. The Stevensons and Jefferson executed a purchase agreement and the Stevensons deposited \$38,000 in earnest money with Jefferson's broker, Windermere. Id. Windermere released the earnest money to Jefferson. Id. Jefferson then paid Windermere a \$9,500 commission based on a separate agreement that obligated Jefferson to pay Windermere whenever it procured a purchaser. Id.

The deal went bad. Jefferson decided not to sell and did not return the earnest money. *Id*. The Stevensons filed suit against Windermere and Jefferson claiming unjust enrichment, but settled with Jefferson when Jefferson agreed to refund the earnest money, less the \$9,500 paid to Windermere. *Id*. at 826, 275 P.3d at 841. The trial court dismissed the Stevensons' unjust enrichment claim and the Idaho Supreme Court affirmed. In doing so, the Court summarized the Stevensons' unjust enrichment claim against Windermere as follows:

It is true that Jefferson conferred a benefit on Windermere. The Stevensons' argument, reduced to its essence, is that because they conferred a benefit upon Jefferson, and Jefferson conferred a benefit upon Windermere, they can cut out the middleman and directly recover from Windermere for unjust enrichment.

Id. at 827, 275 P.3d at 842.

This Court rejected the Stevensons' argument and concluded that their unjust enrichment claim against Windermere could not be maintained because the Stevensons did not confer the benefit in question. Rather, Jefferson conferred the \$9,500 benefit on Windermere and thus, it was "not a benefit that the Stevensons conferred on Windermere." *Id.* at 829, 275 P.3d at 844.

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